HISTORY OF

REGION SEVEN CANOE BASE

BOY SCOUTS OF AMERICA

(Preliminary Draft)

HOW IT STARTED

In the late 1930’s several Scout Executives who were actively related to the Wisconsin Eagle Forestry Camp and/or conducted council canoe trips in northern Wisconsin conceived the idea of a jointly or Regionally sponsored canoe outfitting base that would make the advantages of this great canoe country available to many councils.  The idea was discussed with the Wisconsin Conservation Commission, the Superintendent of Northern Highlands State Forest, and the Regional and National office.  The National Council was reluctant to take on such a project in view of the proximity of Region Ten Canoe Base and their policy of minimum property ownership and permanent nationally sponsored programs.  Finally, however, per​mission was given for the interested local councils to set up a co-operative program on a trial basis.

Ed Schwechel, Scout Executive of Samoset council, Wausau, Wisconsin, Ernie Schmidt, S. E. of Twin Lakes Council, Oshkosh, Wisconsin, Ted Shearer, S. E. of Aurora Council, Aurora, Illinois and Dick Potter, S. E. of Arrowhead Council, Champaign, Illinois, took on the task of getting a base established.  Judge Rosenberry, Chairman of the State Conservation Commission, Haskel Noyes, a member of the committee, C. L. Harrington, Director of Conservation, and Leif Steiro, Superintendent of Northern Highlands State Forest, were very much interested and most co-operative, due somewhat at least to their fine experience with the Eagle Scout Forestry Camp.

The initial plan of the committee was to establish a base on Lost Canoe Lake near the Eagle Scout Forestry Camp.  A beautiful site was chosen on a ridge jutting out into the lake and accessible from county road K.  However, when the possibility of a base on this property was discussed with the Conservation people, they suggested the possibility of using the former C. C. C. Camp on White Sand Lake which was no longer used and had been turned over to the State by the federal government.  This would eliminate the need for any construction of buildings and facilities during the trial period.  A visit to the site revealed it to be ideal in location and to have the finest beach in northern Wisconsin.  The Conservation Department offered the use of several buildings and the project was off to a fine start.  When logging operations were in full swing in northern Wisconsin, a logging camp had been located on this site and it also served as an assembly point for logs that could be floated in, a railroad spur ran to the beach and the cut made for the tracks to the beach can still be seen at the northern edge of the present camp.  In fact, the new Woodbadge Patrol site is on the other side of it.  Back of the pump house there still existed a White Pine stump nearly 5’ in diameter.

Funds for initial equipment were contributed by many councils of the Region and interested individuals.  The Base opened in the summer of 1940 under the name of “MIWI” (representing the 4 states of Region 7).  Ernie Schmidt developed numerous routes, marking portages and campsites, and drew the first map of the area for use of canoe parties.  Members of the Executive Committee served as the Base Staff with the help of other vol​unteers.  The program was enthusiastically received by many councils of the Region and by 1942, Region Seven established a co-operative relationship in preparation to the assumption of full responsibility.  A. F. Claude of the Regional staff was assigned to serve as coordinator of the Base during the transition period that summer.

That year $2118.00 was received in contributions to provide additional equipment and 2 Senior Scouts employed to assist the 3 man staff.  Participation totaled 280 Senior Scouts and leaders for 280 camper weeks representing 22 councils.

REGION SEVEN BECOMES OFFICIAL SPONSOR—1943

In April 1943, C.J. Carlson, Regional Executive, appointed R.E. Gregg, Deputy Regional Executive, as Director of the Base, and the name was changed to Region Seven Scout Landing.  Working with the original committee of Executives who continued to assist for several years, 6 outstanding young men who had previously gone on trips from the Base, were selected to serve as guides for parties during the summer.  Bob Gregg recruited Jack Loesch, Toledo, Ohio, with whom he had worked at National Aquatic Schools, and who was an expert canoeist and wilderness camper, to spend two weeks at the Base to help open camp and give the very best in training to the guides.  Jack continued to serve in this capacity until 1955 and rendered a truly outstanding service and made a major contribution to the growing success of the program.  The staff that first year consisted of R. E. Gregg and members of the committee who took turns serving as cook and the other adult staff members, plus the 6 guides.

Several additional buildings had been made available by the Conservation Department so that facilities now consisted of barracks #1, 2, 3 and 4, mess hall, shower and toilet house, pump house and water tower, generator house and motors, ice house, and part of the garage.  Electricity was supplied by gasoline driven generators which were cranked to start every evening and shut down the last thing at night and were not very dependable.  Water came from an excellent well pumped into a 20,000-gallon wooden tank.  However, the tank dried out every winter and required a great deal of caulking and soaking each spring.  This was overcome only because Leif Steiro caulked it each year and sent a large pump over to pump water from the lake into the tower for days to soak it up.  The gasoline motor which operated the well pump was very unreliable and frequently would not start.  Ice had to be cut each winter and stored in the ice house from which huge blocks were put in the walk-in refrigerator each day to provide the only refrigeration in camp.  This “walk-in” had one additional advantage in that many mornings early and late in the season it was the warmest place in camp!  Vegetables were kept in a vegetable cellar in the hill behind the mess hall.

One of the great assets of the camp was the fact that J.A. Scott, an employee of the conservation Department lived on the property.  His telephone to the Forestry Headquarters at Trout Lake was the only contact with the outside world in case of emergency, though of no value for regular telephone business.  Scotty was employed by the Region as year ‘round caretaker and to assist in the summer on maintenance in his spare time.  J.C. Steiro, brother of Leif, who owned a number of summer house keeping cottages on White Sand Lake, put up ice for us in the winter and did a great deal of maintenance and repair work on buildings.  Another person who should be mentioned at this point is Dr. Kate Newcomb who served this entire vacation-land area and later became famous for her dedicated service through the television program “This Is Your Life’ and a book entitled Dr. Kate.  She made many trips to the Landing to do medical rechecks and was always on call for emergencies.  The nearest hospital was at Tomahawk, 50 miles away, though one was built in later years at Woodruff in memory of Dr. Kate, from contributions of school children across America.

Building #1 was used as camp office, adult staff and camp lounge.  Building #2 served as map room, equipment issue, and a place for planning sessions.  Building #3 provided overnight facilities for incoming groups and storage for their equipment while on the trail.  Building #4 housed the junior staff.  Canoes were kept on racks in the pines near the lake and stored in the barracks each winter.  Campsites were established along the lake and several wells were driven to provide water.  Parties camped at these sites while the guides gave them training and helped plan their trip.

War rationing had become a serious problem by 1943 and made it almost necessary for all parties coming any distance to travel by train.  Fortunately, the Milwaukee Railroad still had one train a day to Star Lake, which is 7 miles from White Sand Lake.  Since the only vehicle owned by the Landing was a canoe trailer with a bed in the bottom for paddles and gear, there was no way to transport people to camp even from Star Lake.  The train arrived at about 11:00 A. M., so parties were met by an adult staff member with private automobile and the trailer.  Upon arrival, the party was given a picnic lunch and then loaded all their gear in the car and trailer.  The duffel was then hauled to the Landing while the party leader and Senior Scouts hiked in.  The return trip was the same unless there happened to be a number of private cars on hand at the Landing with sufficient gasoline ration to assist in transportation.

Food rationing and the needs of the armed services made it necessary to resort to fresh vegetables and cured meats plus canned lunchmeats such as Spam.  What canned goods could be secure were largely in glass jars and this posed a secondary problem.  As a result, parties were issued bags of potatoes, heads of cabbage, bunches of carrots, etc., plus hams, slab bacon, and large quantities of bread.  It was almost impossible to carry enough food of this kind for more than 4 or 5 days.  This meant shorter trips or being replenished on the trail.  For 10 day trips, the groups were always met at an agreed upon rendezvous with food for the rest of the trip.  This was hauled to them in the car of the Director or other adult staff member.  Remarkably, no group ever failed to meet on schedule and the staff contact was always on time.  In later years, canned beef and other products were available from the military including dehydrated vegetables.  In fact, the Landing did some testing of “C” and “K” rations for the Army.

Cooking at the Base was done on coal or wood-burning stoves and water was heated by coal fired heaters.  The small barbershop room at the end of the shower and toilet building was converted into a laundry with tubs and was boards.  All laundry was done by hand.  A huge garbage pit was dug behind the mess hall each year until a truck was available to haul to a dump.

In spite of transportation problems, 192 campers and leaders came from 17 councils for a total of 234 camper weeks the first year of Regional operation.
1944

    Cost--$2.00 registration fee plus $1.50 per day per person

    Periods—any length desired at any time desired by the party.  Must be scheduled in advance and at a time when sufficient equipment and a guide was available.

    Equipment—sufficient to have 70 people on the trail at a time.

    Transportation—still by train for most groups.

    Staff—Woodrow Hickman, a school principal and later superintendent of schools in Illinois, who had worked with Bob Gregg in numerous Scout camps was employed as Program Director.  Woodie and his family not only became a vital part of the Landing operation, but his old Model “A” Ford doubled the vehicles available to haul people, supplies, and canoes.  In addition to meeting parties on the trail with fresh supplies, it was now possible to “put in” and pick up a few parties at Nixon Creek and other nearby points.  Woodie continued to serve in various capacities at the Base until 1952.  His contribution to the on-going success of the Landing is beyond measure.  The staff of young men was increased to 12 to provide maintenance and kitchen help as well as guides for parties.  Ted Shearer, Ed Schwechel, and Dick Potter each gave a week or two to serve as cooks and give what help they could.  Mrs. Eileen Hickman did the cooking the rest of the time.

    Training—Jack Loesch again trained the guides and helped establish new campsites.  Each party was given 24 hours of training by the guides prior to leaving on their trip.

    Attendance—418 campers and leaders from 25 councils for 578 camper weeks.

    Hike Trips—Judge Rosenberry, Chairman of the conservation Commission, had a great interest in hiking and as a result the Commission had developed and marked some wonderful hiking trails in the immediate area around the Landing.  Hike trips were incorporated in the program of the Base and proved to be of great interest and value to the few courageous parties that took them instead of canoeing.  Horseback trips were discussed and considered but posed too many financial and maintenance problems to be practical.

    Property and Buildings—During 1944, the Wisconsin Conservation Department officially leased all but 5 buildings to Region Seven with 20 acres of land on a year to year automatic renewal basis.  It was the recommendation of Judge Rosenberry and C.L. Harrington that this form of lease would be the safest since it meant that it would never be brought before the Commission in future years for renewal consideration as would one with a definite terminal time.  Thus, unless a serious problem developed which would cause a future Commission to become concerned about the lease, it would not have to face a new and possibly disinterested group.  This action made available the present office building and the Landing office was moved there with the back portion being used for storage.  Bob Gregg’s family then moved into the former office in #1 and the Hickman’s were given the room next to it.

    Advisory Committee—The original committee of Scout Executives was enlarged and Otto Nimtz, Deputy Regional Executive, was appointed chairman by the Regional Executive.  This group was to serve in advising, recommending, and helping in whatever way they could, but did not control the operation.  It was to be appointed each year.

    Canoes—White was selected as the color for Scout Landing canoes because they were easy to see, reflected the heat, were given better care by canoeists, and no other camp used that color.

    Guide Book—the first GuideBook was published and made available to all parties.
1945

    Cost—

    Periods—

    Equipment—An agreement was worked out with Thompson Bros. Boat and Canoe Co., Peshtigo, Wisconsin to replace all canoes each year on an established percentage allowance for trade-ins.  Forty new and replacement canoes were secured under this plan the first year providing a fleet of 60 canoes.  Thompson Bros. gave the Landing a rowboat to use on the waterfront.  Cots were finally secured for use of parties staying in the barracks.

    Transportation—More parties were able to come by bus and it was possible to meet a few that came to Woodruff by train or bus.  The canoe trailer and private cars were still the only vehicles available.

    Staff—In addition to Gregg and Hickman, a Business Manager was hired and his wife was to be the cook.  A Maintenance Director was also employed.  A young man was also secured as Aquatic Director to supervise the waterfront, swim checks, etc.  However, the Business Manager and his family proved very unsatisfactory and was fired.  Mrs. Hickman and Mrs. Gregg then took over the cooking for the major portion of the summer.  Fifteen Senior Scouts served as guides (now called voyageurs to emphasize their role as assistants to party leaders—not in charge of the party), maintenance, kitchen, commissary, and Trading Post helpers.

    Attendance—631 campers and leaders from 33 councils for a total of 850 camper weeks.

    Food—More items became available and considerable canned meat and dehydrated vegetables secured from the government.  A variety of menus were developed and mimeographed on cards along with per person quantities for each.  Trail parties selected the menus they wanted and developed their own food order which was then filled by the commissary.  They paid actual cost of food purchased.

    Contributions—$3000 was contributed by interested Scouts for additional equipment.

    New Maps—Ben Phillips, Field Executive of Samoset council, enlarged and brought up to date the original maps prepared by Ernie Schmidt.  This included new routes and campsites developed over the past few years.  These were printed in quantity for use by parties and to make copies of each trip for the Landing file and to provide to the Fire Warden at Trout Lake Headquarters.  Ben was working on a new set of maps when he died of cancer—and desperately tried to finish them right up to the time he was under heavy medication.

    Long Range Planning—In 1944 Joe Bishop of the National Engineering Service and Len Hall of the Health and Safety Service visited the Landing to assist in the development of a long-range plan.  These plans were completed in 1945 and Herman Jackson, a commercial artist, visited the Landing to complete work on drawings for a promotional brochure to be used in raising money for the proposed project.  However, final approval was never given by the National office and the program had to be dropped.

    Regional Committee Established—In the fall of 1945, a sub-committee of the Regional Executive Committee was appointed.  John Heronymus of Sheboygan, Wisconsin was named chairman and committee members were Sidney Wanger, III, Chicago, Judge Rosenberry, Madison, Wisconsin, and Otto Janus, Indianapolis.

    Landing Account Transferred to National—At the close of the season, all funds were transferred to the Comptroller of the National Council.  Up to this time a special account had been maintained by Region Seven.  This transfer actually represented final acceptance of the Landing as a part of the National Council.

The transfer on October 15, 1945, amounted to:

Balance in Operating Account—$459.97

Balance in Reserve Account——$1804.32

The Reserve Account represented contributions and operating profits which were placed in reserve each year for replacement and new equipment.  The value of equipment and supplies at that time was approximately $10,000.00.

    Special Features—

1. Canoe trailer loaded with equipment caught fire.  This trailer is still in use and marks of fire are evident in the bed.

2. One party arrived without an adult leader and had to be sent home.

3. A party started a small forest fire in the Tenderfoot Lake area and ruined our fine relationship with the managers of the Notre Dame property area.
1946

    Cost—

    Periods—

    Equipment—Through constant effort and a lucky break, a new 1 1/2-ton Dodge stake body truck was received in spite of priorities.  This was one of the greatest thrills experienced by the Director and the Scout Landing staff.

    Transportation— With the new truck, more parties could be met on arrival and be put-in or picked-up.

    Staff—Not much change in assignments.  Full time cook that lasted all summer.  Total of 4 adults and 20 Senior Scouts.  Began to get a few war veterans.

    Attendance—547 campers and leaders from 37 councils for a total of 740 camper weeks.  This made a grand total of 64 councils in Region Seven that had used the Scout Landing facilities.

    Special Features—

1.  The privately owned Telephone Company could not secure materials and labor to put in a line to the Landing.  So poles were purchased from a lumber camp near Winchester, hauled to camp, peeled, and dried.  Wire, insulators, etc. were secured through contacts in Chicago.  The Base staff and vol​unteers set the poles and stung the wire.  The service man for the telephone company finished the job and by the end of the season the Scout Landing had a phone!

2. Jim English of Boy’s Life went out on a trip and a feature story appeared in Boy’s Life the following year.

3. Worship Service pamphlet was produced for the use of parties on the trail.

4. Wes Klusman, National Director of Camping and George Chronie, National Director of Senior Scouting, visited the Landing.

5. John Heronymus received $10,000 in contributions for capital funds.

6. Work with the W.C.D. and the continual development of new trails and campsites resulted in the Department assigning Mr. McDonald to the full time job of listing and marking trails and campsites on State land and developing better cooperation between camps operating canoe trips.  The Scout Landing maps and information were so far superior to all others that he took them as his starting point.

7. Work was started to develop a joint GuideBook with Region Ten.  This was accomplished the following year and resulted in excellent cooperation.

